IN THE SUPREME COURT OF PLORIDA

STEPHEN WILLIAM BRADLEY,)

Petitioner,)

Vs.)

STATE OF FLORIDA,)

Respondent.)

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

LARRY B. HENDERSON ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER 112 Orange Avenue, Suite A Daytona Beach, Florida 32014 Phone: 904/252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

STEPHEN BRADLEY was charged by amended information with violations of §810.02(2)(a), Fla.Stat. (1983)[burglary of a dwelling with a battery], §812.014(1)(a)(b), Fla.Stat. (1983)[petit theft] and §784.03 Fla.Stat. (1983)[battery] (SR24) ½. A special public defender [Mr. Leon Cheek, Esq.] was appointed to represent Bradley (SR22), and the matter proceeded to a jury trial in the Circuit Court for Seminole County, the Honorable Vernon C. Mize presiding.

The state presented the testimony of two persons at trial (R3-44,SR15-22). Viewed in a light most favorable to the verdicts, that testimony established that on November 29, 1984 Thomas Jackson (a Longwood Police Officer) and his wife returned

^{1/ (}SR) refers to the supplemental record in the instant case, whereas (R) refers to the initial record on appeal.

home after Christmas shopping (R4-5). Some packages and the wife's purse were left near the sliding glass door, and the couple went back to the master bedroom (R6). Jackson heard the glass door open, and he observed the defendant grab his wife's purse and run (R6-8). The officer gave chase, yelling "stop, I'm a cop." (R11). After being chased about 60 feet, the defendant abandoned the purse (R12). Jackson caught up with the defendant (R13), and during the ensuing struggle Jackson was struck in the face (R13-15).

At the conclusion of the state's case, defense counsel moved for a judgment of acquittal, arguing that the state had failed to prove that the battery was intentional and that this type conduct did not fall within the intended perimeters of the burglary statute (R44-47,51-53). The motion was denied (R53). Bradley exercised his right to remain silent and, following objection free closing arguments, the jury was instructed on the law of the case (SR53-75,75-93). The jury propounded two inquiries to the court during deliberation (SR31-32,46). The first question asked, "Can we read the original police report?" (SR31). Judge Mize wrote, "NO. The police report is not in evidence. You have to consider only the matters that are in evidence." (SR31). The second question requested another reading of the law as it relates to battery (SR32,46). court returned the jury to the courtroom and reinstructed the jury on the law of battery in the presence of the defendant and counsel (SR46,93-95).

The jury found Bradley guilty of burglary of a dwelling with a battery, petit theft and battery (SR33-35). He was adjudicated guilty of all three offenses on May 14, 1985 (SR39-40). The matter came on for sentencing on July 19, 1985 (SR66-69). The sentencing hearing was continued due to the short notice of the state's intent to prosecute the defendant as a habitual offender (SR70). A guideline scoresheet totaling 121 points was prepared and accepted by the Court (SR193). The recommended sanction was 5½ to 7 years imprisonment.

Judge Mize did not find the evidence sufficient to sentence the defendant as an habitual offender in reference to the standards set forth in Section 775.084, Florida Statutes (SR180). The court departed from the recommended guideline sentence, however, and on October 28, 1985 sentenced Bradley to a 15 year term of imprisonment, to be served concurrently with a 60 day and 1 year term of incarceration for the misdemeanor offenses (SR170,195-199). Credit is to be received for 333 days time served (SR195). The written reason for departure provides: "Due to the previous record of the defendant and the nature of those offenses." (SR193).

On direct appeal, the Fifth District Court of Appeal reversed the departure sentence, finding it to be unsupported by clear and convincing reasons. Bradley v. State, 497 So.2d 281 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987) (Sharp, J., dissenting). In rejecting the issue contending that the trial court erred in failing to respond to the first jury inquiry in open court with notice to the parties as required by Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.410, the court held that

the jury inquiry did not implicate Rule 3.410 because it did not ask for additional instructions or to have testimony read.

Bradley at 283. A technical correction in the opinion was made following rehearing.

Discretionary review on the basis of express and direct conflict was timely sought by Bradley and granted by this Court on March 20, 1987. This brief follows.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

After retiring to deliberate the jury wrote a note requesting that they be allowed to read a police report that, though never introduced into evidence, was used by defense counsel to impeach the key state witness. The report had been marked for identification purposes, and it contained the sworn statement of the witness; further it had been used by the witness to refresh his recollection of the event prior to trial. The request was answered in the negative by the trial judge without bringing the jury into the courtroom, and apparently without notice to the attorneys for either party.

Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.410 imposes a mandatory duty for the trial judge to address on the record in open court a request from the jury requesting additional instructions and/or a reading of the testimony. The request in this case sought further instruction and/or reading of evidence presented in open court during the trial. Thus, the trial court erred in failing to comply with requirements of Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.410.

The per se reversible error rule remains viable and it is appropriate as the only mechanism whereby trial judges will be acutely aware of the need to strictly comply with the requirements of Rule 3.410. Even if a "harmless error" rule could effectively be administered, and Petitioner respectfully submits that it cannot, trial courts would as a result soon become less concerned with the need to strictly comply with Rule 3.410.

The failure to comply with Rule 3.410 most harms the State of Florida, because a harmless error analysis is unavail-

able to the state where a violation of Rule 3.410 results in the acquittal of a defendant or conviction on a lesser offense than perhaps otherwise could have been obtained had the state been able to address a question that concerned the jury in its deliberations.

As a basic tenet of fairness, both sides should have the opportunity to address a question that is germane to the case and that is affecting the jury in its fact finding function. Substitution of appellate review and application of a harmless error analysis for a full and fair jury trial in the first instance is inconsistent to a constitutionally guaranteed right to a jury trial. The <u>per se</u> reversal rule is appropriate following a violation of Rule 3.410. The decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal should be reversed and the case remanded for retrial on all charges.

ISSUE

WHETHER FLA.R.CRIM.P. 3.410 REQUIRES THAT THE JURY BE CONDUCTED INTO THE COURTROOM AND THAT COUNSEL FOR THE PARTIES BE GIVEN NOTICE PRIOR TO THE JUDGE RESPONDING TO A REQUEST FROM THE JURY FOR ADDITIONAL INSTRUCTIONS OR FOR TESTIMONY TO BE READ?

Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.410 expressly provides:

After the jurors have retired to consider their verdict, if they request additional instructions or to have any testimony read to them they shall be conducted into the courtroom by the officer who has them in charge and the court may give them such additional instructions or may order such testimony read to them. Such instructions shall be given and such notice read only after notice to the prosecuting attorney and to counsel for the defendant.

In the instant case the Fifth District Court of Appeal ruled that the communication from the jury was outside the requirement of Rule 3.410, because, ". . . the jury (1) did <u>not</u> request additional instructions, and (2) did <u>not</u> request to have any testimony read to them." Bradley at 283 (emphasis added).

That ruling expressly conflicts with both the spirit and holdings of this Court in <u>Williams v. State</u>, 488 So.2d 62 (Fla. 1986), <u>Curtis v. State</u>, 480 So.2d 1277 (Fla. 1985), and <u>Ivory v. State</u>, 351 So.2d 26 (Fla. 1977). This Court in <u>Ivory</u> recognized that a <u>per se</u> reversible error rule is warranted where a trial court, in the absence of the defendant and without notice to attorneys for the parties, communicates with a jury about matters affecting their deliberations. The procedure so violates

established principles of fairness and due process of law that violation of the basic fundamental rights involved cannot avoid redress under the guise of "harmless error." Fundamental constitutional rights require an intentional, knowing and voluntary waiver; they cannot be lightly discarded if the Constitution is to retain viability. By far the most critical period during a trial is the jury deliberation process, and by far the importance of the free exercise of fundamental constitutional rights is at its peak during that critical period of trial when the jury performs its function of determining the credibility of the witnesses and the appropriate weight to be given the testimony and evidence. After presentation of the evidence and instruction on the law, the jury retires as a body to the sanctity of the jury room. No longer proscribed from discussing the case with other jurors or from forming opinions, the jurors are instead encouraged by the court to fully and fairly discuss what they have perceived in order that a just verdict be returned.

How is an appellate court to know what prompted the jury, in the performance of its fact finding function, to ask for guidance or for other information that quite clearly concerns the jurors as they consider credibility and determine what evidence is believable? The limitations on an appellate court in determining credibility of witnesses from a cold record go without gainsay. Appellate review of credibility of witnesses is simply not an acceptable substitute for the jury trial to which both parties are constitutionally entitled.

Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.410 affords both parties the full panoply of constitutional rights when, during deliberations, the jury asks for additional instructions or to have testimony read them. The requirement of notice, open court/public treatment of the inquiry, presence of the accused, and an opportunity to be heard and to object are implicated when the jury asks a question that concerns the deliberation process. The parties may, by stipulation, introduce an exhibit about which the jury is concerned but which, through oversight or inadvertance, was not formally introduced.

In this case the jury asked, "Can we read the original police report?" At issue is whether this question falls within the purview of a request for additional instructions or a request to have testimony read to them. It is initially submitted that, as a practical matter, it is if no consequence that the jurors requested to read the report rather than to have the report read to them ... but for the fortuitous phrasing, the question could have read "can we be read the police report again". The effect of the communication is the same; the jury is concerned about what is contained in the police report and, if possible, they want it again published to them.

This particular police report contained the sworn statement of the police officer/victim of the burglary and battery. It had been used extensively by defense counsel to impeach the officer following his direct examination (R26-30,35), and though it was marked as defense exhibit "A" for identification, it had not been introduced into evidence. It

properly was subject to introduction because the witness used the report to refresh his recollection (R29) (See Section 90.613

Fla.Stat.). The report was also admissible pursuant to Section 90.803(5) Fla.Stat., that is, as the recorded recollection of the witness made under oath contemporaneously to the incident. In any event, at least those portions of the police report that were referred to during cross-examination of the police officer were actually in evidence, if only for impeachment purposes. Pursuant to Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.410, the defendant and the state were entitled to notice of the jury inquiry concerning the police report and an opportunity to respond prior to the jury being instructed that the report was not in evidence and that they would have to rely on their own recollection of the evidence.

The request for additional instructions contemplated by Rule 3.410 should not be viewed strictly as applying to requests for substantive instructions. Rather, the terms of the rule should be liberally viewed to affect its purpose. Stated simply, if the jury asks for guidance concerning a matter that is germane to their deliberations, it is seeking further instruction from the court, and the parties should have notice of that question as a matter of basic fairness.

Though much maligned, the <u>per se</u> reversible error rule is the only viable means to insure strict compliance with such an important rule of procedure. Ethically, judges should not be answering questions from jurors in the absence of notice to and participation of parties if the question, liberally viewed, is germane to the jury's fact finding function. This tenet need not

be expounded on. The harm accrues to both parties, and it is only by red-flagging the <u>ex parte</u> procedure by a judge as wholly unacceptable that trial judges automatically will immediately go on the record in the presence of counsel for the parties to resolve a jury communication. Application of a harmless error analysis will eventually remove the alarm bells that should sound in the trial judge's head as soon as the bailiff hands him any inquiry from the jury.

Further, as aptly phrased by Justice England, "A 'prejudice' rule would, I believe, unnecessarily embroil trial counsel, trial judges and appellate courts in a search for evanescent 'harm', real or fancied." Ivory v. State, 351 So.2d 26, 28 (Fla. 1977) (England, J., concurring specially). An example of how elusive prejudice or the lack of it can be to determine is found in this very case. The defendant was charged with petit theft, battery, and burglary with a battery. He admitted committing the theft (SR18), he contested, however, being guilty of the more severe offense of burglary with an assault (SR59-60). The testimony in that regard was at best inconclusive, and the credibility of the witnesses was crucial.

Specifically, Officer Jackson testified that he chased Bradley for over 100 feet; he struck Bradley "at least" twice in the back (R26). Jackson claimed to have been struck once by Bradley as they went into a ditch (R13), and again when he got Bradley turned around (R14). He disclaimed being angry (R23); he conceded that he might have been yelling obscenities (R22), and claimed to have had a red mark on his face for two hours after

the incident (R30). He wanted to have Bradley charged with the highest offense possible (R32). Jackson's wife, on the other hand, testified that her husband was angry (RSR21), screaming obscenities (SR20-21), and that he did not display any injuries when he returned (SR22).

Section 810.02(2), Florida Statutes (1983) provides:
"Burglary is a felony of the first degree, punishable by imprisonment for a term of years not exceeding life imprisonment or as provided in \$775.082, \$775.083, or \$775.084, if, in the course of committing the offense, the offender [m]akes an assault or battery upon any person."

An act is committed "in the course of committing" if it occurs in an attempt to commit the offense or in flight after the attempt or commission.

Section 810.011(4), Fla.Stat. (1983). If Bradley committed a battery on Jackson while fleeing after commission of the burglary, the state is entitled to a guilty verdict. If Bradley did not commit a battery on Jackson, he is entitled to an acquittal on the battery charge and a conviction only for the lesser burglary offense. Clearly in this case there is insufficient evidence for an appellate court to resolve the issue that is controlled by credibility of the witnesses. But if a reversal is then appropriate, what charges are to be reversed? The theft charge appears not to be implicated, but in fact all charges are affected. If the theft conviction remains intact, the jury trying the case following remand will not be aware that Bradley has suffered one conviction from this incident. If they are so informed, that bolsters the state's case against Bradley for the

remaining charges, in that the new jury will be aware that six other jurors have found Bradley guilty of an offense stemming from the incident they are now trying. The more astute jurors may even glean that a prior conviction has been reversed on appeal, requiring the new trial.

This entire dilemma is circumvented by requiring strict compliance with Rule 3.410. The rule requires that, when a request from the jury occurs during deliberation, the jury "shall be conducted into the courtroom by the officer in charge." Thus, the defendant and counsel for both sides will receive notice of the communication and the record will concretely evidence that fact. The procedure benefits both parties, but perhaps it benefits the state more than it does the defendant. prosecutor is denied his right to participate in formulating a response to a jury inquiry and the defendant is acquitted or found quilty of a lesser offense, the state cannot then appeal. The state has lost its right to notice, and that cannot be corrected on appeal under a harmless error rubric. It is only through strict adherence to the dictates of Rule 3.410 that the parties can be assured that their constitutional rights have been preserved, at a time that is the culmination of all that has previously transpired in the trial. The per se rule is warranted in recognition of the fact that this crucial period constitutes the very essence of both party's right to a jury trial. See Rose v. Clark, U.S., 106 S.Ct., 92 L.Ed.2d 460,470 (1986).

The decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal in this case should be reversed and the viability of the per se

CONCLUSION

Because the trial court failed to comply with Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.410, the convictions in this case must be reversed and the matter remanded for retrial on all charges.