0/2 6-29-87

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STEPHEN WILLIAM BRADLEY,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

CLERY & 1987

CLERY AND COURT

CASE NO. 69 657

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

SEAN DALY ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL 125 N. Ridgewood Avenue Fourth floor Daytona Beach, Fl. 32014 (904) 252-1067

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The respondent accepts the petitioner's statement of the case and facts to the extent given but supplements that statement by noting that in oral argument before the district court of appeal counsel for the petitioner conceded that defense counsel at trial was in fact present during discussion and consideration by the trial judge of the communication from the jury at issue. Appellate counsel for petitioner also indicated that the petitioner himself claimed that he was not present at the time of the jury communication at issue.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The district court properly distinguished this case legally and factually from the per se reversal rule first announced in Ivory v. State, 351 So.2d 26 (Fla. 1977) since the jury inquiry at issue did not request "additional instructions" or to have "testimony" read to the jury. Inasmuch as Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.410 specifically imposes notice requirements upon the judge only in those particular situations and given the obvious harshness of a per se reversal rule, the district court's finding that the trial court's simple refusal to allow the jury to consider an exhibit not introduced into evidence did not justify reversal is clearly appropriate under the circumstances and is in line with numerous decisions which distinguish between requests for instructions and the largely ministerial task of determining which exhibits have in fact been admitted into evidence and may therefore be considered by the jury.

Alternatively, should this Court determine that the jury communication at issue was subject to the requirements of Rule 3.410 the state respectfully requests this honorable court to revisit the improvident and unjustified per se reversal rule announced in Ivory in favor of the well-established and statutorily mandated harmless error rule of Section 924.33, Florida Statutes (1985). It can hardly be said that in every case of juror communication harmful/prejudicial error will result and given the clear legislative pronouncement that criminal judgments should be reversed only if the substantial rights of the defendant had been adversly effected, i.e., if the defendant

has in fact been prejudiced, no basis for reversal is presented where the state can, as in this case, demonstrate beyond a reasonable doubt that the error alleged was not prejudicial in that it did not affect the verdict. Accordingly, the state urges this Court to reject the <u>Ivory per se</u> reversal rule and adopt the well-reasoned concurrence of Justices Shaw and McDonald in <u>Williams v. State</u>, 488 So.2d 62, 64 (Fla. 1986) applying the mandated harmless error rule.

Finally, and again alternatively, if the foregoing arguments are rejected the state would nevertheless respectfully submit inappropriate in that reversal is this case given the petitioner's previous concession at oral argument before the district court of appeal that his trial counsel was in fact present during the jury communication at issue. In carving out exceptions to the harsh per se reversal rule of Ivory this Court has determined that Rule 3.410 does not necessarily require the defendant's presence if defendant's counsel is present for communications under the rule and afforded the opportunity to voice objections. As noted by the district court below, the record in this case makes unclear just who was present during the jury communication at issue, and remand, as suggested by petitioner's appellate counsel at oral argument before the district court, may well be appropriate to determine if any error in fact occurred prior to reversal for a new trial in this case.

ARGUMENT

٠,

THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY THAT THE DETERMINED JURY COMMUNICATION AΤ ISSUE WAS TOM SUBJECT TO THE REQUIREMENTS OF FLORIDA RULE OF CRIMINAL PROCEDURE DID 3.410 BECAUSE THE JURY REQUEST ADDITIONAL INSTRUCTIONS OR TO HAVE ANY TESTIMONY READ TO THEM; ALTERNATIVELY, EVEN COMMUNICATION WERE SUBJECT TO THE CONSTRAINTS OF RULE 3.410 OBVIOUSLY HARMLESS NATURE ANY OF PURPORTED ERROR IN THIS CASE AND THE CLEAR CONSTRAINTS OF SECTION 924.33, STATUTES FLORIDA REQUIRES REVISITATION AND REJECTION OF PER SE REVERSAL RULE OF IVORY V. STATE, 351 SO.2D 26 (FLA. FURTHERMORE AN EVIDENTIARY REMAND SHOULD BE ORDERED TO DETERMINE IF ERROR IN FACT OCCURRED PRIOR REVERSAL.

Initially, the respondent reasserts the arguments contained within the jurisdictional brief submitted in opposition to this Court's exercise of its discretionary jurisdiction. Given the clear constitutional requirements of express and direct conflict and the legally and factually distinguishable nature of the district court decision in this case and this court's holding in Curtis v. State, 480 So.2d 1277 (Fla. 1985), discretionary jurisdiction should be withdrawn as improvidently granted.

The distinction between this case and <u>Curtis</u> is made evident by the majority opinion below which distinguishes <u>Curtis</u> and <u>Ivory v. State</u>, 351 So.2d 26 (Fla. 1977) and other decisions applying the proscriptions of Florida Rule of Criminal Procedures 3.410 from factual situations like those presented <u>sub judice</u> where the jury communication does not involve a request for

additional instructions or to have any additional testimony read to the jurors.

As noted by the state in its answer brief at the district court level the jury inquiry at issue was in effect nothing more than a question as to whether all evidentiary exhibits had been presented to them and as such was a matter governed not by Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.410 but by Rule 3.400 which controls situations in which the jury is to be provided with items previously introduced into evidence, which rule does not require the presence of either counsel or the defendant. Morgan v. State, 471 So.2d 1336 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985); Villavicencio v. State, 449 So.2d 966 (Fla. 5th DCA), rev. denied, 456 So.2d 1182 (Fla. 1984); Turner v. State, 431 So.2d 328 (Fla. 3d DCA), rev. denied, 438 So.2d 834 (Fla. 1983). The underlying bases for the majority opinion, aside from the factual distinctions drawn, clearly involve the district court majority's distain for the application of a per se reversal rule under the facts of this case where the appellant before the district court made "no contention...that he was in any way harmed" by the purported Bradley v. State, 497 So.2d 281, 283 (Fla. 5th DCA error. Indeed, although the petitioner for the first time before this Court attempts to create some perceived prejudice from the jury communication at issue a review of his only brief submitted before the district court reveals his position that prejudice is of no import and that as long as he was able to present a trial record which did not reflect "open-court treatment of an inquiry from the jury" he was entitled to automatic reversal even if

trial counsel was in fact present and even if he sustained no even arguable prejudice from the purported error. Certainly, the district court majority found such a per se reversal requirement, under the peculiar facts of this case, a bitter pill to swallow and properly refused to do so nothing this Court's apparent vacillation on the harmless error/per se reversal analysis of Rule 3.410 and this Court's specific refusal to accept jurisdiction on a previous decision from the same district court on this same issue, implicitly rejecting the defendant's claim that a jury's request for an evidentiary exhibit fell under the requirements of Rule 3.410. See, Villavicencio v. State, supra.

In this case, the jury's written request was, as correctly determined by the district court, not a request for "additional instructions" or to have "testimony read to them" such that the trial court judge could not be faulted for failing to adhere to the requirements of Rule 3.410 (if in fact he did fail to meet those requirements - a determination which the record presented The jury's written communication was in makes impossible). effect nothing more than a jury request to review what they thought was documentary evidence in the case (the original police report) and the judge's denial of that request in writing on that same piece of paper noting that the police report had not in fact been admitted into evidence was well within the court's authority specifically granted by Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.400(d). Furthermore, the written request and judicial response was filed in the court record and was also noted in the court minutes, clearly exposing the judge's decision to further

appellate review upon challenge by the petitioner if he deemed it necessary. (SR 31, 46) 1 Although the petitioner now for the first time attempts to create an actual prejudice claim his arguments are weak and insubstantial at best since the police report at issue was not in fact introduced into evidence and was properly kept from the jury's consideration; indeed, had the arrest report actually been presented to the jury for their consideration it is a virtual certainty that Bradley would have complained of the judge's action on appeal (as in Ivory) in and given the absence of any objection on the record, despite the apparent presence of defense counsel, it can only be assumed that the defense did not in fact wish the report to be presented to the jurors. As the petitioner candidly and correctly states the per se reversal rule has been "much maligned" and the district court's rejection of the applicability of that judicial invention under the circumstances of this case should be commended as a rejection of the easy appellate "out" that such rules afford reviewing courts, in favor of proper individualized review of the trial judge's actions and the right of the people of the State of Florida codified in Section 924.33, Florida Statutes (1983) to expect that no judgment will be reversed without individualized appellate review to determine whether in fact the "substantial rights of the appellant" have been "injuriously affected."

^{1 (}SR) refers to the supplemental record on appeal. (SSR)
refers to the second supplemental record.

HARMLESS ERROR

Even if it were assumed that the jury communication at issue was subject to the requirements of Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.410 the state respectfully submits that the per se reversible error rule judicially created by this tribunal is inappropriate and should be rejected. The petitioner's initial brief rehashes at length various arguments in support of the per se rule in obvious and justified concern that this Court could well revisit the issue and reconsider the propriety of judicially creating and imposing such an extraordinary and elevated standard for alleged violations of Rule 3.410 especially since there will certainly be cases, like the factual circumstances presented here, where the lack of prejudice to the defendant is clear, yet the appellate court because of the strictures of the judicial per se reversal pronouncement is powerless to do anything but "throw the baby out with the bathwater" and reverse despite the fair trial and disposition afforded the defendant in that particular Here, the jurors simply asked if they could see an arrest report which had not in fact been introduced into evidence and were properly informed by the trial court that they could not have it because the document itself had not been admitted into evidence and they could consider only evidence actually admitted. (SR 31) That this response was legally correct should be selfevident and the total lack of prejudice actually suffered by Bradley becomes even more clear when it is considered that the jury was repeatedly informed in the presence of defense counsel and Bradley without objection that the case must be decided

solely upon the evidence actually introduced at trial. (SSR 5, 83, 85)

Even assuming that defense counsel was not given notice and opportunity to object to the jury communication in this case the propriety of the judge's ruling had such an objection been made is clear and the communication from the jury and to the jury is made obvious by the record, so at to allow full and complete analysis of the propriety of this ruling. What goal is to then be served by automatic reversal of an otherwise fair and proper trial and disposition of this case? Is harmless error actually some sort of exclusionary rule to be enforced against judges at the expense of the people of the State of Florida for certainly there is no allegation that the state erred in this case and the petitioner will receive no fairer trial on remand since under the same circumstances the jurors will still not be authorized to view the police report. Why should the people of this state be made to bear the costs and delay of justice in this case resulting from a new trial simply to teach an object lesson to judges around the state (as apparently urged by petitioner) when no actual prejudice has befallen this particular defendant? any event, this court would certainly be free to issue an opinion in any such case if it determined that the judge's actions were substantively deficient but to otherwise uphold the conviction on a harmless error analysis as has been previously done in innumerable appellate decisions, thus educating wayward jurists.

The state submits that the <u>per se</u> reversal rule announced in <u>Ivory v. State</u>, 351 So.2d 26 (Fla. 1977), is unnecessary and ill-

advised overkill which necessarily fails to contemplate the myriad factual situations which could be presented amply demonstrating the lack of prejudice to the accused from the communication at issue. Certainly, the "prophylactic effect" of the rule makes an appellate judge's life easier as noted by Justice England in his concurring opinion in Ivory; however, the Florida Legislature, apparently unconcerned with the ease of which appellate courts determined cases, has mandated that judgment shall not be reversed until the harmless error rule is applied and this Court has in fact noted the limitation of Section 924.33, Florida Statutes (1983), in revisiting and rejecting other state per sereversal rules. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986); State v. Marshall, 476 So.2d 150 (Fla. 1985); see also, State v. Murray, 443 So.2d 955 (Fla. Applying the principles of Marshall and DiGuilio to this case the appropriateness of applying a harmless error rule is clearly demonstrated especially given the "preferred method of promoting the administration of justice" exemplified by the harmless error rule. 476 So.2d at 153. As in those cases applying the harmless error rule the state seeks nothing more than the opportunity of carrying its burden of showing the purported error harmless beyond a reasonable doubt; a showing easily made in this case. As in DiGuilio the per se error rule should be determined inappropriate under this context because the error at issue is not "always harmful, i.e., prejudicial." 491 So.2d at 1195. Furthermore, the fact that the requirements at issue have been codified by this Court in

mandatory rule form cannot overcome the mandate of Section 924.33 which limits all appeals and is no less mandatory in nature than the proscription of Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.250 which precludes prosecutorial comment upon a defendant's failure to testify in his own behalf - a mandatory proscription which has nevertheless been determined subject to the harmless error rule. Similarly, as in Marshall and DiGuilio it is clear that there is no federal constitutional bar to applying a harmless error analysis in cases like those at bar. See, Rushen v. Spain, 464 U.S. 114, 104 S.Ct. 453, 78 L.Ed.2d 267 (1983).

apparent phylosophical and practical problems imposing a per se reversal rule in the context of Rule 3.410 violations is amply evinced by this Court's vacillations on the subject already noted by virtually every district court of appeal and by this Court itself in Williams v. State, 488 So.2d 62, 64 (Fla. 1986). The obvious problem with creating a per se reversal rule at least in this context is that there will be cases and circumstances, like those presented herein, where it becomes clear that a defendant has suffered no actual prejudice from the error asserted but nevertheless demands reversal. In such cases decisions like Rose v. State, 425 So.2d 521 (Fla. 1982), cert. denied, 461 U.S. 909, 103 S.Ct. 1883, 76 L.Ed.2d 812 (1983), and Hitchcock v. State, 413 So.2d 741 (Fla.), cert. denied, 459 U.S. 960, 103 S.Ct. 274, 74 L.Ed.2d 213 (1982), result and exceptions are made. Thus, the per se reversal rule is in effect rejected and the harmless error rule applied despite the court's assertion on paper of a prophylactic rule. The better rule, and the one in

keeping with the express requirements of Section 924.33, Florida Statutes, is to apply the harmless error standard and evaluate each case on the circumstances presented where the state in fact attempts to carry its burden of showing the error harmless under the factual circumstances. To do otherwise is clearly to exalt form over substance and unnecessarily burden an overextended judicial system by ordering a new trial that will afford the defendant no greater protection of any real and substantive right.

· ,

The state respectfully urges this court to reconsider the per se reversal rule created in Ivory and restated in Curtis and Williams in favor of the well-reasoned analysis of Justice Shaw, concurring in result only in the Williams decision, that the time for specifically accepting and applying the harmless rule in the context of Rule 3.410 violations has arrived. Here, the jury communication and response thereto are evident of record and the parties have been afforded the opportunity to "make full argument" as to the reasons the jury's request should or should If, as here, it is clear that the not have been honored. defendant's argument is baseless and the trial judge's decision correct there is no reason to remand for a trial and the justification for the Ivory prophylactic rule is undermined. 351 So.2d at 28. <u>See</u>, <u>Meek v. State</u>, 497 So.2d 1058, 1060 (Fla. 1986); Hitchcock v. State, supra.

PRESENCE OF PETITIONER'S TRIAL COUNSEL PRECLUDES RELIEF

The harshness of the <u>Ivory per</u> se reversal rule has resulted

in various attempts and decisions to avoid its impact and the resulting necessity for a new trial especially in the context of See, Rose v. State, supra; Hitchcock v. State, death cases. In Meek v. State, supra, this Court determined that no new trial was necessary despite an alleged Rule 3.410 violation because defense counsel, but not the defendant himself, was in fact present and afforded the opportunity to be heard. At oral argument before the district court of appeal Bradley's appellate counsel indicated that he had been informed that the petitioner's trial counsel was in fact present for the jury communication at issue although the petitioner himself claimed to have been Accordingly, reversal of this cause is unjustified. absent. Meek v. State, supra; Thomas v. State, 65 So.2d 866 (Fla. 1953). In any event, as suggested by defense counsel at oral argument remand might be appropriate to reconstruct the record for determination as to just who was and who was not present during the jury communication at issue. Should this court reject previous arguments submitted by the respondent, the state would in the alternative suggest that remand for record reconstruction or evidentiary hearing would in fact be appropriate to determine if any error actually occurred in this case. Certainly, it would be an exercise in futility to order an entirely new trial if defense counsel and / or the defendant were in fact present for consideration of the jury inquiry but the matter for some reason simply failed to appear of record.

CONCLUSION

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